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[ 1 ^  V) v O  
L n / T t  V,i INTERVIEW WITH ROBERT ODA ¿ K

^  0  T v  V ei/vRobert Oda y j * / >
Bom:  Courtland, California in 1923 a / C ^

Mrs. Oda: Hello?

Rosalie Wax:  
Mrs. Oda:

Hello3 'is th is Mr. Robert Oda? 
What?

Rosalie Wax:  
Mrs. Oda:

Robert Oda, 
Who -is th is?

Rosalie Wax:  
Mrs. Oda:

This is  Professor Rosalie Wax from S t, Louis. Is  this Mrs. Oda? 
Yes.

Rosalie Wax: I  was in Tule Lake as a f ie ld  worker fo r  a year and a ha lf3 and the 
Rockefeller Foundation has given me a fellowship to see i f  I  could ta lk 
to any people who were there about th e ir  f u l l  l i f e  experiences3 and I 
asked and he suggested that perhaps your husband would3 
but i f  th is  is  not a convenient time3 why I  can ca ll some other time.

Mrs. Oda: No3 you are ca lling  from S t. Louis?

Rosalie Wax:  
Mrs. Oda:

Yes.
Hold on fo r  gust one moment.

Rosalie Wax: Hello3 th is  is  Professor Rosalie Wax from S t. Louis and I .  . .as I 
explained to your w ife. . . I  have been given. . . I  was in  Tule Lake. . 
I  was called Rosalie Hankey then3 before I  married3 and I  don 't know 
i f  you ever saw me there. . .1 was a f ie ld  worker.

Robert Oda: Sure3 which department were you with?

Rosalie Wax: I  was with the Evacuation and Resettlement Study o f  the University o f

Robert Oda:
California.
When you were at Tule Lake?

Rosalie Wax:  
Robert Oda:

Yes.
You were not a t the Relocation o ffice?

Rosalie Wax:  
Robert Oda:

No3 I  was not working fo r  the War Relocation. . . WRA as they ca lled i t . 
What I  mean is  when you were a t Tule Lake3 where was your o ff ic e  at?

Rosalie Wax: I  d id n 't have an o ff ic e . I  gust had. a l i t t l e  barrack. . . th a t 's  what 
the administration gave me.

Robert Oda: 0h3 I  see.

Rosalie Wax: I  g'ust went around ta lk ing to people. . . from about February3 1944 
u n t i l  March3 1945.

Robert Oda: Gee3 I  don't th ink I  ever met you. I  know. . .the soc io log ist that 
was there. . .

Rosalie Wax:  
Robert Oda:

Dr. Marvin Opler was there.
Opler3 yeah3 and, I  knew Mrs. Opler. But I  don 't know who else in  that 
f ie ld  anyway. But I  know3 o f  course3 some o f  the people who were in 
the relocation o ffic e . I  don 't know i f  you remember Mr. Holland.
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RW: Mr. Holland? Yes
RO: There was an assis tan t there by the name o f  Barney. Barney something. He's now 

in  Berkeley and I  th ink he is  w riting something on Tule Lake too.

RW: Well3 I  don 't necessarily intend to publish th is . But I  do want to ta lk  to 
people and get a p icture o f  them as human beings going through th is  experience 
and leave i t  to h istorians. I  w i l l  w rite a report for  the Rockefeller Foundation. 
LeX me ¿ee, c.an you tc lZ  me a tU X lc  about you/� bc^o/ic Tea/iZ Hanbo/i?

RO:

/% >

I  l ived  near Sacramento in  a rural area and was s t i l l  in  high school a t that 
time. My parents were both Japanese language school teachers. I  don 't know 
what else to say.

RW: 
'U RO:

How fa r  had you gone in  high school?
Well3 I  was a jun io r in  high school a t the time o f  Fearl Harbor.

RW: 
f RO:

Did you have any special hopes fo r  the fu tu re3 you know3 what you planned to be? 
0h3 a t tha t time? Yes. I  was very much in te rested  in aeronautics.

RW: 
| RO:

In  what?
Aeronautical engineering.

RW:
RO:

This is  as good a time to ask; where you were born and when?
Well3 I  was born in  a l i t t l e  town ca lled  Courtland3 near a town ca lled 
Courtland3 California.

RW:
RO:

Is  that near Sacramento?
Yes3 about 25 miles down the r ive r  - in  1923.

RW: Do you remember how you f e l t  when the government announced thout the Japanese.

RO:
American people were ordered to leave th e ir  homes a>id go to assembly centers? 
Well3 I  cou ldn 't qu ite believe i t  actua lly . We had some thoughts that perhaps 
my parents might be3 because they were enemy a liens. But as a c it izen  I  d idn 't 
th ink that that would ever happen. So i t  came as quite a shock.

RW:
RO:

And to which assembly center did they send you?
Well3 I  was not sent to any assembly center; we went direc tly  to Tule Lake.

RW:
RO:

0h3 you were sen t d irec tly  to Tule Lake?
Yeah3 because a l l  the assembly centers were f i l l e d  up by then3 and so3 we had 
to wait u n t i l  Tule Lake was ready and we were the f i r s t  contingent from 
California to go to Tule Lake.

RW:
RO:

Is  there anything you remember about the tr ip  or how you f e l t  or your parents? 
Well3 we were fu l l  o f  apprehension3 uncerta inty3 we did n 't know what kind o f 
place i t  was; we weren ' t  allowed to look outside and we mainly traveled during 
the n ig h t ; ' i t  was an overnight tr ip . . .

RW:
RO:

You were there a long time. 
Yes3 about 4 years.

RW: Four years3 which o f. . . or there may be several experiences3 that you reca ll 
the most strongly3 could you te l l  me about i t?

RO: Strongly3 in  what sense?
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Well, tha t Is  a good question. Well, you might te l l  me i f  anything made you 
angry or then we can go on to anything that made you happy.
Well, o f  course, in  general when we got to Tule Lake, i t  was not what I  expected. 
I  don ’t  know what I  was expecting, but we didn ’t  expect to fenced in  with 
aimed guards and a l l  tha t so r t o f  thing. We thought i t  was gust a relocation 
center, that i t  was a temporary kind o f quarters. But i t  was more l ike  a prison 
actually. Well, that kind o f  angered me. . .

Bid i t  look l ik e  that when you got there?
Excuse me?

Bid i t  look l ik e  a prison when you got there?
Well, i t  was a l l  that barb-wired fence and guard towers, and barrack a fte r 
barrack, black ta r paper. I  don’t  know what I  was expecting, but i t  was not 
what I  thought i t  would be.

I t  was grim; i t  was a grim place.
I t  was very, very grim; not a tree in  s igh t; not a grass on the ground. . . some 
sagebrush. . .anyway, i t  was very grim atmosphere.

Was there anything tha t you l iked  in  those f i r s t  few months?
Yes, I  th ink so, I  met a lo t o f  people tha t I  enjoyed meeting w ith. I  tias young, 
and I  was in te rested  in  meeting a lo t o f  new g ir ls . I  enjoyed sports, and a l l 
that type o f  thing..

Bid you have a couple o f  boys who were your fr iends too?
Oh yeah.

Yes, that was very help fu l when things got. . .
Of course. Well, we kind o f  went in to  tha t particu lar area as a group, so actually 
most o f  my fr iends were w ith us, so that rea lly  helped. I  th ink when you say 
strong experiences you say or very. . . I  f e l t  angered. I  guess the f i r s t  thing 
was the so-ca lled reg istra tion .

Yes, could you te l l  me what happened to you then. How you fe l t? 
in  the beginning, I  d idn ’t  th ink much o f  i t ,  actually they said you only have to 
reg ister , so I  thought, ’’Nobig d ea l.” And then we sta rted  hearing about th is 
so-ca lled loya lty  question, even that. . .1 d idn ’t  give much thought to , because 
I  was a k id  and you know, you don’t  think about those things anyway. But more 
and more when the question sta r ted  to come up. "People sta r ted  to ask what does 
th is  actually mean? Bo these have a double meaning, you know, and a l l  that ̂
so r t o f  thing. And then, I  th ink the d irector was asked to c la r ify  the meaning.
He ju s t  f la t l y  refused and anybody who won’t  come to regis te r  would be put in to 
iso la tion  camp.

They rea lly  threatened you that way?
Oh yeah.

RW: My goodness. I  d idn ’t  know tha t.
RO: That sort o f  angered me. I t  was under a th reat. , .to  have to answer something

that without even trying to c la r ify  the question. So that angered me. And in 
fa c t qu ite a few ju s t  absolutely refused to answer the question and were taken 
in to  iso la tion  camp. I  th ink a few hundred o f them, . . .not tha t many. But 

4 /   ̂ I  waited t i l l  the la s t minute, so to speak, ju s t  held out. I  d idn ’t  want to go
to iso la tio n  camp, o f  course. So I  guess out o f  resentment I  said, ”No. Bo.”
I  thought tha t was the only answer I  could give a t that time. Just le t  them 
know how I  f e l t .  So that i s  how I  became a "Bo. Bo."
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RW: Makes very good sense.
RO: Well, I  don 't know i f  i t  makes seyise or not, lout a t teast th a t 's  a t lea st how

I  reacted, as a kid, I  guess, tha t was sort o f  an understandable reaction .

RW: Yes, well you know i t ' s  in te res tin g . Not only o f  the men but o f  the women I 'v e
ta lked to have th is  same fee ling  o f  resentment o f  being c i t ize n s . . .w ell maybe 
I'm  "putting words in to  your mouth. I t  was an in su lt.

RO: Yes, I  th ink th a t's  the way we f e l t .  I  th ink i t  had become a highly emotional
kind o f  issue and i f  the d irector had been a l i t t l e more reasonable, I  don't 
th ink i t  would have ever come to that sort o f  reaction.

RW: Yes, I  would agree. I t  was d iffe ren t and' i t  depended on how i t  was done in  the
centers.

RO: Oh, yes I  th ink so. Most o f  the other centers, I  th ink the directors were more
understanding. I  th ink th a t 's  the reason they d id n 't have the commotion tha t 
Tule Lake had.

I RW: Yes, I  was going to skip a ; l i t t l e  in  time. I  could ask you about th is  uprising
^ in  the Daihyo Sha Kai business.

RO: That was a fte r  the segregation.

\/ r w : Yes, tha t was a fte r  the segregation,*
RO: Well, the so-ca lled  r io t  was. . .people seemed to associate the demonstration

that took place about three days prior to tha t, you know, as part o f  the r io t , 
but that was en tire ly  two separate things.

RW: I  agree, a l l  my studies indicate tha t.
RO: Because that demonstration was actually a peaceful demonstration. V illon Myer. .

to le t  them know what the conditions o f  the camp were a t tha t time. The food, 
was very poor and i t  was r igh t a fte r  segregation. A lo t  o f  new people came 
from other camps. They were very d issa t is f ie d  with the sttuatvon there $ and 
they could not get dobs, or i f  they did have, they had very menial work, you 
know, when they l e f t  w ith them, I  think. there was in  fa c t a lo t  o f  resentment 
against the former Tuleans.

RW: How did you fe e l  personally? When i t  happened. . .
RO: You mean a t the demonstration i ts e l f?

RW: Yes, when you were a young, you must have been. . .
RO: Well, the demonstration i t s e l f .  . .1  wasn't. . .the one thing tha t happened

prior to tha t, which led to the demonstration was that the farmworkers were 
k il led . . .might have led to the demonstration as one o f the grievances. And 
also the hospita l care was very poor and a l l  that sort o f  thing kind o f  accumu- 

• la ted I  guess, and then that demonstration was held, but that was a very, you 
know, peaceful demonstration actua lly. But about 3 days la te r , what happened 
was that there was a constant rumor going on that the white s t a f f  members o f 
relocation authority was stea ling  the food out o f  the warehouse, and was se lling 
i t  to the black market. I  guess i t  was because the food a t that time was very 
bad; there was hardly any meat at a l l • fo r  weeks. So, apparently some people 
were kind o f  pa tro lling  tha t area at n ight and they found somebody taking food 
out o f  the warehouse - a couple o f  Caucasians and there was a truck. Whether 
they were actually stea ling or not, I  don 't know, but anyway i t  was suspected 
and then I  guess some arguments happened, and then these two Caucasians gust 
ran in to  the administration build ing, apparently, and then the d irector, I  guess.



Robert Oda - December 4,  1981 -5-

RW: Mr. B est. . .
RO: Something like  tha t, so the d irector ca lled  up the Army. Of course the Army

came in  and fu s t  knocked down everybody rs head that looked, Japanese.

RW: Yeah, how did you fe e l  about the Army coming in?
RO: Of course, I  was in  complete shock, and most o f  the people that were beaten up

were the night crew members o f  the motor pool, which was in  the administration 
area. They had no idea o f  what was going on. They were r i f l e  butted  and they 
were slugged, they were h i t  over the head, and so. . .and then a tank came r igh t 
in  to the. . .w ell. . .portion that the evacuees lived , and we were actually 
the c lo sest to tha t administration area, so we were the f i r s t  ones who were h i t , 
you might say.

RW: Were you scared?
RO: Yeah, because they were shooting machine guns and a l l  tha t. I  th ink they were

shooting in  the a ir , but they were ye lling  a t everybody to get back in to  the 
barrack. Of course some people were fu s t  going to the bathroom and a l l  that, 
and they couldn’t  go to the bathroom.

RW: My goodness, gosh, th a t ’s rough.
RO: . . . TEE tanks and armory cars and a l l  those. . .they fu s t  came with bayonets.

RW: I  wasn’t  there. . . I  d idn ’t  get there u n ti l  a fte r  they had the vote and they voted
to stop the sta tus quo, you know, and I  was. . .was there something you were 
going to say?

RO: i Well, the thing i s ,  you know, tha t was part o f  the so-ca lled  r io t ,  but actually 
w the only r io ting  was actually the so ld iers. . .not the evacuees. The papers 

kind o f  turned the thing around. Actually a l l  the violence was done by the
so ld iers. The next morning, you see most o f  the people, we were _____  ward
I ,  which was p re tty  much in  the center • people on the fr inge area - I  aon ’t 
th ink the tank went that fa r . So I  don’t  th ink most o f  them even knew about i t .
In  the mourning, we a l l  s ta r ted  to go to work, and I guess the Army thought i t 
was another demonstration or something, and they formed th is long line o f  tanks 
and so ld iers, you know. They were trying to stop us from going to Work. Of 
course, most o f  us could not understand why. I  knew there was some kind o f 
incident, I  d idn ’t  know how serious i t  was or anything.

RW: That’s when they threw tear gas at people, wasn’t  it?
RO: Right, in  fa c t i t  was thrown a t me, and one o f  them h i t the g i r l  who was standing

r igh t next to me on the forehead and i t  fu s t  about knocked her out. Of course, 
that rea lly  angered me. . .th a t tear gas i s  something that I  experienced fo r  the 
f i r s t  time, but i t ’s not fu s t  tha t you get tears in your eyes, but you can’t 
breathe.

RW: I ’d l ike  to skip ahead in  h isto ry , because I  got there in  February, 1944. . . i t
fo r  a while i t  looked l ik e  things were going to go fa ir ly  good and then there 
was th is  dreadful thing. . .do you remember the Co-op head, Mr. Hitomi was murdered? 
I  was going to ask how you f e l t  about that personally. What your fee lings were.

RO: Well, i t  was a shocking thing to happen. The thing that concerned me most was
my brother was an ass is tan t, the manager a t that time, r igh t under Mr. Hitomi, 
and naturally my brother became the manager a fte r  the murder. Of course, one 
o f  the rumors was that he was k i l le d  because he was the manager. Some people 
resented the Co-op was making a p ro f i t  o f f  o f  the evacuees and a l l  that sort 
o f  thing. So I  was very concerned about my brother.
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Yes3 there were rumors and there had been a number o f  people beaten up3 I 
remember3 who the gossip and rumors was that they were inu3 you know.
Oh yes3 well the people who were part o f  the Co-op3 or working fo r  the Co-op 
were considered part o f  that conspiracy to make pro fi t  o f f  o f  the people in 
these camps and aVl that sort o f  thing. That was jus t  part o f  the resentment3 
tha t was d irected in  every d irection. I  th ink most o f the resentment came from 
people who were transferred from the other camps3 not so much on the former 
Tuleans. So that was my personal experience: my concern fo r  my brother's welfare 
and what might possibly happen to him3 now that he took over Mr. Hitomi's position .

Your brother took over H itomi's position? That rea lty  took guts to3 you know.
They had that l i s t  - number one inu3 you know3 tha t people ta lked about.
Oh yeah3 r igh t. Well actually my concern was how i t would took upon our family 
as a whole in  fa c t. I  xfras also working a t the administration at tha t time too.

What d id you work a t there?
Wett3 I  was part o f. . .the o ff ic e  fo r  the farm produce3 mostly recording o f  i t 3 
I  guess.

Did uou know Bob Tsuruda?
No.

He wasn't in the o ff ic e 3 but—I  know he was working in the mess—helping with the 
d istr ibu ting  o f the food. He was a fr iend  o f  mine.
0h3 I  see.

Do you remember the people -  o f course who could forget the people - a lo t o f 
people ca lled the "harSieads." And then a t the end they even began to shave 
the ir  heads?
Oh yeah.

And from my experience as a f ie ld  worker3 they ju s t kept pu tting more and more
pressure on people. I  should ask i f  you reca ll and how you f e l t  about them.
Yeah3 I  th ink tha t group sta rted  out as more o f  an educational so r t o f3 cultura l 
study grovp.

Yes3 i t  s ta r ted  out as an educational3 Sokoku Kenkyu Seinen dan.
For people who were going back to Japan3 especvally the Japanese Americans who 
were not fam ilia r w ith The Japanese culture and a l l  that so r t o f  thing to get
them somewhat prepared fo r  l i f e  in  Japan3 I  guess. That was the whole idea3 and
so some o f  these people did jo in  in; some o f  my friends did too.

You d id n 't jo in  i t?
No3 well actually I  was not3 you know3 planning to go back to Japan; th a t's  the 
reason I  had no part o f  i t .

Yeah3 that makes good sense.
But I  did go to Japanese language school fo r  a while - n ight school.

Yes3 they had four d iffe ren t schools; some weren't radical and some were.
Yeah3 th is  was the one tha t was actually approved by the administration.

Yeah3 I  remember that one. I  fo rget i t s  name3 but I  remember.
However3 tha t supposed study group turned in to  more and more radical; or I  th ink 
the leadership became more radical; more p o l i t ic a l  and they sta r ted  exercising in 
the morning3 that sort o f  thing. That used to i r r i ta te  me3 because i t  was so early
in  the mominq and wake me up. But some o f  my fr iends in  that group never hurt me 
or anything Ivke tha t.
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RW: You mean3 you could s t i l l  soc ia lize  and get along with your fr iends who were In
that group?

RO: Yeah3 I  don 't think we got Into any arguments3 that I  re ca l l .

RW: Gee3 th a t 's  In te restin g .
RO: Well3 they were doing th e ir  own thing 3 you know3 and I  wasn't about to get

dragged Into I t ,  Soc ia lly3 I  th ink we were s t i l l  fr iends3 and I  don 't think 
these people were as radical - my friends were anyway3 maybe they f e l t  tha t they 
were trapped Into I t  themselves and could not get out now that they were In,

RW: Yeah3 that happened la te r  on. Many people f e l t  trapped and were scared to leave.
RO: Right.

RW: That was. . .especia lly  when the renunciation o f  c itizensh ip  was put up3 you
know.

RO: r Rlght3 so a t lea s t the people tha t I  knew were not—did not pressure me per- 
f sonally. I  th ink the leadership probably did.

RW: Looking back3 what are about the most pleasant things that you can remember about
Tule Lake? Was there something that made you happy or you rea lly  enjoyed?

RO: Well3 I  guess I  enjoyed sports3 being young and o f course the soc ia l dances and
tha t type o f thing. I  think I  met a lo t  o f  nice people. I  th ink tha t Is  one 
o f  the things that made things a l i t t l e  easier to go through.

RW: Wo cloibt o f  tha t.
 ̂ RO: We encouraged each other. I  th ink one o f  the big things was the boredom3 I

suppose. . .

RW: The big thing was the boredom?
RO: Yeah3 I  d id n 't l ike  the boredom.

RW: Did you f in d  that about one o f  the worst things to stand?
RO: Yeahy I  th ink so3 there rea lly  Is no place to go3 you know3 once In a while there

Was entertainment3 th is  and that. But the fa c t that you are cooped up In a very
small area3 rea lly  tends to get you. And not only boredom but the frustra tion 
s ta r ts  to get to you.

RW: Frustration. . .In  what way. . . could you explain a l i t t le ?
RO: Welly fru stra tio n  In the sense that you can 't rea lly  plan fo r  the fu ture and

what Is going to happen to us and the fa c t that I t  was very depressing - c ir �
cumstances physica lly  as w ell as mentally and psychologically - there was nothing 
very u p l if t in g  about i t  a t a l l .

RW: Welly It was like  In some ways like  a prison.
RO: Welly I  th ink I  f e l t  prisoners probably fe e l  the same way too. The freedom Is

rea lly  what you cherish.

RW: You knoWy I  was walking through the camp once and I saw a l i t t l e  three or four
year old ch ild  hanging onto the fence and desperately looking out3 and you know 
I  wish I  had a camera r igh t then3 you know. They wouldn't le t  you bring In 
cameras. Because I t  was one o f  the saddest-real expressions o f3 you know3 the 
k id  wanted to run around and be happy.

RO: You knoWy I  used to go to the o u tsk ir ts  and look out toward the farms In the
distance and wishing to be out there.
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RW: Now I ’d l ik e  to ask some questions about hew you f e l t a fte r  leaving Tule Lake
and what you d id .

RO: f Welt, o f  course when I  le f t  Tule Lake, I  ju s t  wanted to fo rget the whole thing 
( and s ta r t  new _______ _ and hope I  could make a b e tte r  world some wccy,

RW: How did you manage to f in ish  high school?
RO: No, I  f in ished  high school in camp.

RW: Oh, I  see.
RO: ( I  applied fo r  student relocation a t one time, but none o f the schools that I

\ applied fo r  would accept me; or they ju s t  d idn ’t  answer me. That so r t o f  thing 
l was very depressing also.

RW: This was a fte r  you le ft?
RO: No, no, th is  was during The time I  was in  camp. But a fte r  I  l e f t ,  o f course, I

went to San Francisco. And then I  worked fo r  a white as a houseboy, you know,
I and that sort o f  thing; dishwasher. And then I  went to City College and worked 
y part time, and then I  went to University o f  California and then I  graduated 

in architecture. And then I  s ta r ted  to work in  that f ield . I  became an 
arch itect.

RW: You are new an a rch itect. You stuck w ith i t .  Got to hand i t  to you.
RO: Thank you. I  th ink one o f  ike things tha t I ’d l ik e  to mention was one o f  the

most d i f f i c u l t  experience was that I  was thrown in to the stockads r igh t a fte r 
the so-ca lled r io t .

RW: You were thrown in to  the stockade? Oh my God. How did that happen?
RO: Nell, i t  happened as more o f  an accident. I t  so happened that in  our neighborhood

there were a couple o f  young fellows who were quite clever w ith radios, and I 
don’t  know how he did i t ,  but he assembled kind o f a miniature broadcasting system.

RW: Yeah, some people did tha t.
RO: Yeah, I  don’t  know where he got the parts or anything, but apparently he did.

He thought he was doing a great favor by playing the Japanese records fo r  the
people in  the camp; because not too many people brought in  records because we 
could only bring in what you could carry. Well, our family had a few records.

RW: Yeah.
RO: I  th ink my mother ten t them to him. I  d idn ’t  know th is  at that time. But the

thing is  tha t people tn  Tule Lake or the surrounding town1 sta r ted  to p ick up 
th is  Japanese music. They thought someone was sending out secret message or 
something (laughs) to Japan or something like  tha t. Anyway, the sold iers came 
around and try ing  to f in d  where i t  was coming from and f in a lly  located th is one 
barrack. And then I  guess they noticed some o f  the records with our name on them.

RW: Gosh, and you were put in  the stockade fo r  that.
RO: So they came to our barrack and I  was the only one there; my parents were there,

but I  was the only one who could speak English, so I  was the one who naturally 
responded to them. They asked me about the records and I  sa id  I  d idn’t  know 
anything about i t .  Because I  d idn ’t  a t tha t time. Then They sta r ted  to search 
the whole barrack and then they said ”ccme a long.” I  thought tha t they ju s t 
wanted me to walk outside and ask another question or something. Well, then 
they ordered me onto the truck and took me to th e ir Army compound and fo r  about

1. A small town called!Tulelake was located a few miles from the Se gregation Center.
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aZZ n ight I  was in one room. I  thought they were going to question me, hut they 
never d id . They Zeft one guard there w ith a gun in  his hand, and then\they took 
me to the stockade. I  d id n 't know what i t  was; they jus t  toZd me to go in to 
the gate. I t  was a very dark night; p itch-dark n ight and they cZosed those 
gates behind me. So I  reaZZy got kind o f angry.

RW: Gee, how Zong did they keep you. Excuse me, go ahead.
RO: They d id n 't even give me a chance to expZain. But there was nothing tha t I  couZd

do, so and there was onZy a ten t in  there, so I  gust sor t o f  sZept i t  out in  the 
ten t.

RW: I'm  sorry I  d id n 't get that.
RO: WeZZ, th is  was a stockade; a coupZe o f  ten ts w ith a barbed wire fence around.

RW: There were gust ten ts to sZeep in . Must have been. . .
RO: Then I  s ta r ted  hearing a voice in  the dark, and then I  found out these were the

peopZe tha t were beaten up a t the n ight o f  the so-caZZed r io t .

RW: Gee, do you remember when th is  happened?
RO: When?

RW: What month?
RO: Yeah, th is was early November.

RW: EarZy November.
RO: And i t  was about a week a fte r  the r io t . But anyway there was about 6 peopZe

aZZ bruised up; one person had h is head aZZ spZ it up; bZack eye. Anyway,
I they were very severeZy beaten up. There was one 15 or 16 year oZd kid, who 

"■ * was hanging around the motor pooZ tha t n ight, he was dragged in  £oq, bub. he. wcu> 
beaten up. AZZ the others were very severeZy beaten up.

RW: How Zong did they keep you in  the stockade?
RO: I  was there about a month and I  thought they were going to ask me some questions,

but they never did.

RW: They never did.
RO: But the hard part was - weZZ i t  was extremeZy coZd.

RW: Oh yes. I t  was very coZd.
RO: TuZe Lake, because I  stiZZ remember the bZanket used to get s t i f f  from being

frozen.

RW: Oh gosh.
RO: But the thing i s ,  when they used to take us to the messhaZZs, the Army messhaZZs

- weZZ, every time they do that they 'd  Zoad up the ir guns and surround us and 
warn us that one fa lse  move and you couZd be dead, tha t sort o f  a thing. And 
even when we were eating, we were given Zeftover food from the soZdiers a fte r 
they had the ir  meaZ. They stiZZ keep th e ir  guns pointed to our back; not very 
comfortabZe way o f  having a meaZ.

RW: You eat w ith a gun a t your back. Gee, did they even come in  and watch you in
the Zatrine?

RO: Oh yes. They came r igh t in  and pointed a gun a t me. . . (?) I  stopped going to
the to iZets there, so we ju s t  had to dig hoZes in  the ten t. At n ight time they 
wouZd throw rocks a t us. One time tear gas was thrown in. I t  was an extremeZy 
d iff icu Z t (?)
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RW: How did you manage to cope with that?
RO: Well, we ju s t  had to do i t .  . .

RW: Weil, i t  seems to me a veal trauma, you know - so unfa ir.
RO: I t  was, hut a fte r  about two weeks, they sta r ted  picking up so many other people

fo r  the compound tha t we were moved in to  a larger, a regular barrack. That was 
much be tte r . There was a showerj the sold iers would stay outsido o f  the barbed 
wire fence, so we were l e f t  alone inside at least.

RW: How we are getting  near the end o f  my tape here. . .1 was going to ask you a
l i t t l e  happier question. Very d iffe ren t. Looking back, what was the most help- 

/ fu l  thing you learned about your fellow human beings? would you say. . .
RO: Well, I  th ink that I  rea lized  that not a l l  people hated us. I  think, there was

• some people who came from outside, non-Japanese, you know Americans, some were
teachers, some were the administration that genuinely wanted to help us.

RW: Yes, there were some like  that.
/ RO: I  thought not everybody hated us and also I  s ta rted  to take in  C hristianity in
f  camp. And I  s ta r ted  to rea lize  that God loves us regardless o f. . .
v
i r w : I 'm  sorry, I  d id n 't qu ite hear tha t. . .
\  r o : . . .th a t God loves us in  sp ite  o f  who we are. That, I  think, helped me a great
\ deal. Prior to tha t I  was p re tty  much a non-religious person. Some o f  these

hardships so rt o f  led me to try to f in d  some kind of  answer to l i fe  and meaning.

i RW: Were you saying that you jo ined a church?
RO: Yes, i t  was then when I  became a Christian.

RW: Well, th a t's  a nice note to end on. I  d id want to ask you: are there any other
Japanese Americans that you know., who were in  Tule Lake who might want, who 
might be w ill ing  to ta lk  to me?

RO: Well, I  think so.

Could you give me the ir  names and i f  you have th e ir  telephone numbers - great, 
otherwise. . .
Well, l e t 's  see, I  wonder i f  I  have one r ig h t now. . .Well, while I'm  looking 
fo r  th is . F irst, I  went through The renunciation process too, and that was a 
mainly a reaction again, and I  was veiy depressed during that period.  ̂ In  fa c t 
I  thought I  was coming down with a mental breakdown almost at That po in t.

You sa id  you almost had a mental breakdown?
Well, I  was getting  a l l  these dizzy sp e lls  and ringing in  my head and cell o f 
that so rt o f thingj couldn 't concentrate or remember anything. I  was in  p re tty 
bad shape fo r  cl while.

That was a te r r ib le  time in  camp. I  wasn't Japanese American, but I  ju s t 
couldn't help—i t  was a very d i f f i c u l t  thing to ta lk to people—They were so 
anxious. I t  makes me cry to think o f  i t .
Well, i t  was a very, very d i f f i c u l t ,  try ing time. I' l l  give you the name o f 

. I  don 't know i f  you've ta lked with him already or not.

Ho, I  haven 't. I  have tha t. Mr. _  g&ve me that.
Oh, I  see. He was in  stockade too. He came from Topaz. He was not the orig ina l.

When I  ca lled him, he wasn't in , so I ' l l  try  to ca ll him over the weekend some�
time or in  The evening. Is  there anyone else?

RW:

RO:

RW:

RO:

RW:
RO:

RW:
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RO: Wellj le t  me see. Offhand I  can 't th ink o f  anyone. I f  you could give me your 
phone number or address.

(I gave phone number and address. R.W.)
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Robert Oda Bor»: Courtland, Calif* I* 1923

Y M a 'C)dt£cHe l l 0 ?

RWi Hello, is this Mr. Robert Oda?

What?

RW t Robert O d a ^

0&t\  Who is this?

R W * This is Professor Rosalie Wax from St. Tmii~.ir rrt Hr* IiTiprniin  

, . f|s this Mrs. Oda?

cyvv> D<iU.

1rft$ip<*way. I was in Tule Lake as a field worker for a year and  

a half, and the Rockefeller Foundation has given me a  

fellowship to see if I could talk to any people who were there  

about their full life experiences, and I asked and

he suggested that perhaps your husband would, but if this i s

Mrs. Oda* Hold on for just one moment.

RW* Hello, this is Professor Rosalie Wax from St. Lou is and  

I .. as I explained to your wife.. I have been give n ..I was  

in Tule Lake...I was called Rosalie Hankey then, before I  

married, and I don’t know if you ever saw me there. ..I was a  

field worker.

RO* Sure, which department were you with?

RW* I was with the Evaculation and Resettlement Stu dy of  

the University of California.

RO* When you were at Tule Lake?

RW * Yes.

RO* You were not at the Relocation office?

RW* No, I was not working for the \frkr  Relocation..WRA as they  

called it.

RO* What I mean is when you were at Tule Lake, where was  

your office at?

RW* I didn't have an office. I just had a little barrack .,  

thatfe what the administration gave me.

RO* Oh, I see.

RW; " l i r  l rw g -gn r t>n'1 Mi l l  ppw lii'ipii _ r~r^liiM i~miTfuiqpi" V I  it 1 mi h ] 1

not a convenient time, why I can call some other time.  

Mrs. Oda* No, you are calling from St. Louis?

RW j Yes.
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RWi ArwK  I wag.. I just went around talking to people a ha»*.,  

fromj^ebruary, 1 9 ^  until March, 19^5«

ROi vGee, I don't think I ever met you* anyway, I kn ow..the  

sociologist that was there...

RWi Dr. Marvin Opler was there.

RO* Opler, yeah, and I knew Mrs. Opler*jBut I don't know who  

else in that field anyway. But I know, of course, some of  

the people^in the relocation office« I don't know if y ou  

remember, Mr. Holland.

RWt Mr. Holland? Yes.

ROi There was an assistant there by the name of Barney« B arney  

something. He's now in Berkeley and I think he is writ ing something  

on Tule Lake too.

RWi Well, I don't necessarjr intend to publish this* $it  I do  

want to talk to people and get apicture of them as human

beings going through this experience and leave it « * e * m f  to  

historians, ass® I muy mfrugt^write a report for th e Rockefeller  

Found at i on v SEBtfPtSV.

Let me see, can you tell me a little about your lif e before  
o

Pearl Harbor.

ROi I lived near Sacramento in a rural area and was s till in  

high school at that time. My parents were both Japanese  

language school 1b achers. I don't know what else to say.

i d ^ h e ialready anticipated my question, how! your parents earng^xheir
■ I I Hi '

living, both Japanese high school teaphers.

ROi No, Japanese language ^qhool teachers.

RWtJfOh pardon mb, I get nervous when I start an in terview.\

I'll cool down. Japanese lahguage school teachers. And  so \ 

Jlow far had you gone in high school?

ROi Well, I was a junior in high school at the time of Pe arl

Harbor.
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RWi Did you have any Special hopes for the future, you know,  

what you planned to be?

ROi Oh, at that time? Yes. I was very much interested in  

aeronautics.

RWi In what?

ROi Aeronautical engineering.

RWi This is as good a time to ask; where you were born  and

when?

ROi Well, I was born in a little town called Courtland,  

near a town called Courtland, California.

RW t Is that near Sacramento?

ROi Yes, about 25 miles down the river - in 1923«  

RWi^jYou were fairlyjyoung, yes^well you wer̂ e a ju nior in  

h ighjscii!^^ e t m^ £pt page Letjaie get a s l u g o T

A

Do you remember how you felt when the government ann ouncement  

that the Japanese-American people were ordered to le ave their  

homes and go to assembly centers?

ROi Well, I couldn't quite believe it actually. We had  some  

thoughts that perhaps my parents might be, because they were  

aliens* jyut as a citizen I didn't think that that would ever  

happen. So it came as quite a shock.

RWi And to which assembly ©enter did they send you?

ROi Well, I was not sent to any assembly center; we went  

directly to Tule Lake.

RWt Oh, you were sent directly to Tule Lake.

ROi Yeah, because all the assembly centers were filled  up by  

then, and so, we had to wait until Tule Lake vas ready and  we  

were t he f i r ^ ^  contingent from California to go to Tule Lake  

/R Wi  I s  there anything that is especially vivid in your mi rrô  

about the assembly centers? f ~

jttTT You mean Tule Lake centei j^J

RWt Is there anything~you remember about the trip or how 

you felt or your parents?
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didn't know what kind of place it was? we weren't allowe d to  

look outside and we mainly traveled during the nigh t,* it was  

an overnight tr ip..

HW i wi s o i i 'n  ^ Y p ^ T a?Pĉ  j,Tn''̂ T t<v -TTnkfv- thfu^T'" h rr nrrT r

that you recall the most strongly, could you tell me  about it?

HOi Strongly, in what sense?

HWt Well, that is a good question. Well, p u  might tell me  

if anything made you angry or then we can go on to anythi ng  

that made you happy. \

ROi Well, of course, in general when we got to Tule Lake, it was  

not what I expected» I don't know what I was expect ing, but we  

didn't expect to be fenced in with armed guards and  all that sort  

of thing. We thought it was just a relocation center, kaamfctre

that it was a temporary kind of quarters* JJut it was more  

like a prison actually. Well, that kind of angered me..

RWi Did it look like that when you got there?

RO* Excuse me?

HW* Did it look like a prison when you got there?

ROi Well, it was all that barb-wired fence and guard towers,  

and barrack after barrack, black tar paper. I don't  know what  

I was expecting, but it was not what I thought it w ould be.

RWi It was grim; it was a grim place.

ROi It was^grim? not a tree in sight; not a grass on the  

ground..some sagebrush..anyway, it was very grim at mosphere.

RWi Was there any th ing  that you liked in those firs t few  

months?

ROi Yes, I think so, I met a lot of people that I enjoye d 

meeting with. I was young, and I was interested in mee ting  

a lot of new girls. I enjoyed sports, and all that type of  

thing.

RWi ^ years, which o^Vmay be several experiences,

ROi Yes, about 4 years.
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RWi Did you have a V1 m'ligtto» couple of boys who were your  

�������	������ ��

RO i ¥ » .  o k  .

RWi Yes, that was very helpful wheriXl̂ vvp®

RO* Of course, well we kind of went into that particula r area  

as a group, so actually IWIQyt my friends were with us, so  

that really helped. X think when you say strong expe riences  

you say or very. .I felt angered. I guess the first th ing was
O O *

A  sami registration.

RW* Yes, could you tell me what happened to you then , ibw you  

felt?

ROt In the beginning, I didn't think much of it, actua lly they
V \ . • ’ M  ,

said you only have to register, so I thought^tlo big deaL*And

then we started hearing about this so-called loyalt y question,

even that..I didn't give much thought to, because I  was a kid

and you know, you don't think about those things anyway.  But

more and more when the question started to come up^p sople

started to ask what does this actually mean» £o ttee hav e a

double meaning, you know, and all that sort of thing. And
TV

then, I think the director was asked to claify the meaning.

He just flatly refused and anybody who won't come to register  

would be put into isolation camp.

RWt They really threatened you that way?

ROi Oh yeah.

RWi My goodness. I didn't know that.

ROi That sort of angered me.^under a threat., to have  to  

answer something 1hat without even ibo <!arify the r n

question. *§o that angered me, ^nd  in fact quite a fe w ̂ refused  

to answer the question and were taken into isolation c amp.

I think a few hundred of them, TTjgggTt. .not that many, B it  

I waited till the last minute, s o s p e a k ,  just held out.

I didn't want to go to isolation camp, of course#Jio I g uess  

out of resentment I said ”H o # Mo."  I thought that wa s the  

only answer I could give at that time, Just let them k now 

how 1 felt. So that is how I became a vliio,Wo.M
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RWi Makes very good sense. &

ROi WBJft, I don't know if it makes siiqjse or not, but^tha t's  

at least how I reacted, as a kid, I guess, that was sort of  

an understandable reaction.

RWi Yes, well you know it's interesting,^ot only of the
* ' *■  \ \

men but of the women I've talked to tere^his same fe eling  

of resentment of being citizens..well maybe I'm putting  words  

into your mouth. insult.

RO* Yes, I think that's the way we felt. I think i t ^
. . ». i 1 ' .>-1 ~~ K-‘

highly emothional kind of issue and if the director  had been  

a little more reasonable, I don't think it would ha ve

reaction..

RWi Yes, I would agree. It was different and it depende d on  

how it was done in the centers.

R O1 Oh, yes I think so. Most of the other centers, Ithink  

the directors were more understanding. I think that' s the  

reason they didn't have the commotion that Tule Lake h ad.

«

RWt Yes, I was goin^to skip a little in time*

..aittragfc I could ask you about this uprising in
‘ SJU . K*Jl 'v ; ' ,

business.

ROt That was after the segregation.

RWi Yes, that was after^segregation now.

ROi Well, the so-called riot was..people seemed to associ ate

the demonstration that took place about $  days prior to that,
t

you know, as part of the riot, but that was entirely j  separate  

things.

RWt I agree, all my studies indicate that.

RO t Because that demonstration was actually a peacefu l

demonstration. to let them know what the
\

conditions of the camp were at that time. The food was

very poor and it was right after segregation* jk lot of

new people came from other campsf*^hey were very di ssatisfied
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>s+yk
with the situation therej and Hkawy^could not get jobs ,  

or if they did have, they had very menial work, you  

know^when they left with them. I think there was in fact  

a lot of resentment against the former Tuleans.

RWi How did you feel personally? when it happened..

ROi You mean at the demonstration itself?

RWi when you were a young, you must have been..

ROi Well, the demonstration itself..I wasn’t..the one thing  

that happened prior to that, which led to the demonstratio n  

was that the farm workers were killed..

TuT, lhe faaffP ~ I tfawjw «tow*l . that.

10*  ..might have led to the demonstration as one of the  

grievances* $nd also the hospital care was very poor and all  

that sort of thing kind of accumulated I guess, and th en that  

demonstration was held, but that was a very, you know, peaceful  

demonstration actually. But about 3 days later, what happe ned  

was that there was a constant rumor going on that the  white staff  

members of relocation authority was stealing the fo od out of  

the warehouse, and was selling it to the black market. I guess
v̂rvo 11

^  the food at that time was very bad; there was hardly a ny meat  

at all; for weeks. So, apparently^people were kind of patrolling  

that area at night and they found somebody taking f ood out of  

the warehouse - a couple of Caucasians and there was  a truck.  

Whether they were actually stealing or not, I don't know,  

but anyway it was suspected and then I guess some arg uments  

happened, and then these two Caucasians just ran into t he  

administration building, apparently, and then the di rector,

I guess..

RWi Mr. Best..

ROi Something like that, so the director called up the ̂ rmy .
a  JLtw**

Of course the /army came in and^knocked^everybody's he ad that  

looked Japanese.
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RWi Yeah, how did you feel about the army coming in?

ROi Of course, I was in complete shock, and most of the  

people life^were beaten up were the night crew membe rs of  

the motor pool, which was in the administration area.

They had no idea of what was going on. They were ri fle  

butted and^siwgs, they were hit over the head, and so . .  

detank  came right in to the . .well, .portion^wliew the evac uees  

lived, and we were actually the closet to that administrat ion  

area, so^were the first one who were hit, you might say.

RWi Were you scared?

ROi Yeah, because they were shooting machine guns and all  

that. I think they were shooting in the air, but they were  

yelling at everybody to get back irPto the barrack. Of c ourse  

some people were just going to the bathroom and all that, and  

they couldn't go to the bathroom.

RW* My goodness, gosh, that's rough. . *

ROi ..THE TANks and armory cars and all those..Acame with
J'

A ‘
bayonets.

RWi I wasn't there..I didn't get there until after  

they had the vote and they voted to stop the status  quo,  

you know, and I was..was there something you were goin g to say?  

ROi Well, the thing is, you know, that was part of the A O **

theriot, but actually the only rioting.

soldiers..not the evacuees. The papers kind of turne d the

thing around. Actually all the violence was done by the

soldiers. The next morning, you see most of the people,

we were » ward I, which was pretty much in the center*

people on the fringe area - I don't thing the tank went

that far* So I don't think most of them even knew ab out it.
w v  o-4-R,

In the morning, inurt^r mi started to go to work, and I  

guess the army thought it was another demonstration or  

something, and they formed this long line of tanks and  

soldiers, you know* they were trying to stop us from g oing  

to work. Of course, most of us could not understand why.

I knew there was some kindof incident , I didn't kn ow how  

serious it was or anything.

RWi That's when they threw tear gas at people, wasn't i t?

« 4 ^ROi Right, in fact it was thrown at me, and one of them hiif
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the girl who was standing right next to|ne on the foreh ead  

and it just about knocked her out. Of course, that rea lly
'to

angered me...that tear gas^that 1 experienced for the first  

time, but it's not just that you get tears in your eyes,  

but you can't breathe.

RWi I'd like to skip

this»

ahead in h i s t o r y , I  got there in February, 19 ^ «  »it ^  

looked like things were going to go fairly good and t hen  

there was this dreadful thing..do you remember the So-op
t

head, Mr. Hatomi was murdered? I was going to ask how you

felt about that personally. What your feelings were!

ROi Well, it was a shocking thing to happened. The thing

that concerned me most was my brotherj^dRy was an assi stant,
/ / *

the manager at that time, right under Mr. H îtomi, and  

naturally my brother became the manager after the murd er.

Of course, one of the rumors was that he was killed be cause  

he was the manager. Some people resented

was making a profit off of the evacuees and all that  sort of  

thing. So I was very concerned about my brother.

RWi Yes, there were rumors and there had been a numbe r of  

people beaten up, I remember, who wa&e the gossip mru morsjf

£  tai*
was that they were #*«t, you know.

ROi >res, well the people who were part of the »o-op,  

or working for the Co-op were considered part of that

Or , .
conspiracy to make profit off.the people in these c amps 

and all that sort of thing. That was just part of the  

resentment, that was directed^yawny direction. I th ink  

most of the resentment came from tfearK people who w ere  

transferred from the other camps, not so much on the  

former Tuleans. So that was my personal experiencei^ "^  

my concern for my brother's welfare and what might possibly
�

happen to him, now that he took over Mr. Hsitomi's pos ition.
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RWi Your brother took over H^tomi's position?

6h yi>h, goic That really took guts to, you know, The y had  

that list - number one TSSH you knowj that people talked  

about'
ROi Oh yeah?̂ my concern was how it would look upon o ur  

family as a whole in fact. I was also working at the  

administration at that time too.

RWi wnr»irin̂ >. .Uha-h did you work at there?

ROi Well, I was part of..the office for the farm produee,  

mostly recording o' it. ,  R 0 ; S ( „  R W ;

RWi Did you know Jiremio ffakobtehri ,Uw jmisu J uuVI -We wasn't  

in the office, but— I know he was working in the mess—  

helping with the distributing of the food^wwl «as a fri end  

of mine.

ROi Oh, I see.

RW� Yoahri -that m'dliuiy la L ' s.-Ak.i aboi^

�� you remember the people^ of course who could forge t the  

people - a lot of people called the "hardheads." And t hen

��
at the end they even began to shave their heads.

ROi Oh yeah.

RWi And from my experience as a field worker, they just ke pt  

putting more and more pressure on people. I should as k if you  

recall and wffiT you felt about them.

ROi Yeah, I think that group started out as more of an  

educational sort of, cultural study group.

RWi Yes, it started out as an educational; <&rfr

ROi ^¿peop le  who were going back to Japan, especially the  

Japanese Americans^*who were not familiar with the Japanese  

culture and all that sort of thing to get them somew hat  

prepared for life in Japan, I guess. That was the whole  

idea, and so some of these people did join in? some of my  

friends did too.

RWi You  didn't join it?
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ROi No, well actually I was not, you know , planning  to go  

back to Japan; that's the reason I had no part of it.

RWi Yeah, that makes good sense.

ROi But I did go to Japanese language school for a while  -  

night school. J-c/vA^

RWi Yes, they had Yjf  different schools; some weren't radical  

and some were.

ROt Yeah, this was the one that was actually approved by the  

administration.

RWi Yeah, I remember that one. I forget its name, but I  

remember.

ROi Xsafe^that supposed study group turned into mor e and more

crC .
radical; ^tejac^the leadership became more radical;  more

political and they started exercising in the morning, that

sort of thing. That used to irritate me, because it was s o

early in the morning and wake me up. But some of my fri ends in

that group wsase*never hurt me or anything like that.
socialize and

RWi You  mean, you could still/fcryzfco get along with your f riands  

who were in that group?

ROi Yeah, I doft't think we got into any arguements, that I  

recall.

RWi Gee, that's interesting.

ROi Well, they were doing their own thing, you know, and I  

wasn't about to get dragged into it. Socially, I think we were  

still friends, and I don't think these people were as radical -  

my friends were anyway, maybe they felt that they were  

trapped into it themselves and could not get out no w that they  

were in.

RWi Yeah, that happened later on. Many people felt trap ped  

and were scared to leaveC^ That was .. especially, when  the

renunciation of citizenship was put up, you know.
</&*{*/So

ROi at least the people that I knew were not--did not

pressure me personally. I think the leadership proba bly did.
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RWi r̂e»i tooking backet «!1 juftfc kibaut nam^r.

what are about the most pleasant things that you can re member 

about Tule Lake? 1 jus* like ni f f̂es. something that m ade

you happy or you really enjoyed.

ROi Well, I guess I enjoyed sports, being young and of co urse  

the social dances and that type of thing. I think I me t a lot  

of nice people. I think that is one of the things that made 

things a little easier to go through.

RW* No doubt of that.

R0* We encouraged each other. I think one of the big t hings  

was the boredom, I suppose..

RW* T$fe big thing was the boredom.

R0* Yeah, I didn't like the boredom. .

RW* Did you find that^one of the worst things to rip®wd?

R0* Yeah, I think so, c there really is no place to go,

you know, once in a while there was entertainment|  

this and that. But the fact that you are cooped up in a very  

small area,- really tends to get you.

^And^not only boredom but the frustration s t a r t s  to get

RWt frustration.. in what way..could you explain a

little?

R0* Well,frustration in the sense that you can't rea lly

plan for the future and what is going to happen to us an d

the fact the it was very depressing - circumstances p hysically
L  .

as well as mentally^ psychologically - there was not hing very

uplifting about it at all.

RW* Well, it was like in some ways like a prison.

R0* Well, I think I felt prisoners^fSKcrtne same way t oo.

The freedom is really you cherish.
K

RW* You know, I was walking through the camp once an d I
M V A

saw a little /  or y  year old child hanging onto the fence  

and desperately looking out, and you know I wish I had a  

camera right then, you know* *?hey wouldn't let you bring  

in cameras*J 5ecause it was one of the saddest-real expressions  

of, you  know, the kid wanted to run around and be happy.
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ROi You know, I used to go to the outskirts and look out  

toward the farms in the distance and wishing to be out th ere.

RW1 Now \E * d like to ask 1 ,ir* ^  - -t- ̂  n. 1—

questionsAnow you felt after leaving Tule Lake and what you did.

■ M '
RO* Well, of course when I left Tule Lake, I ̂wanted to forge t

ROi No, I finished high school in camp.

RWi Oh, I see.

ROi I applied for student relocation at one time, but none  

of the schools that I applied for would accept me? or th ey

then I went to City College and worked part time, and th en I  

went to University of California andil graduated in architecture.  

I started to work in that field. I became an architect.

RWi You are now an architect. You stuck with it. Got t o 

hand it to you.

ROi Thank you. I think one of the things that I'd lik e to  

mention was one of the most difficult experience was that I

RWi You  were thrown into the stockade? Oh my God. How did  

that happen?

ROi Well, it happened as more of an accident. It so hap pened  

that in our neighborhood there were a couple of young  fellows  

who were quite clever with radios, and I don't know how he did  

it, but he assembled kind of a miniaturfe broadcasting  system.

RWi Yeah, some people did that.

ROi Yeah, I don't know where he got the parts or anythin g, but  

apparently he did. He thought he was doing a great fa vor by  

playing the Japanese records for the people in the camp; bec ause  

not too many people brought in records because we c ould only

bring in what you could carry. Well, our family had a few  

records.

the whole thing and start new- "J • JWmj)

I could make a better world some way.

RWi — 3gg5L wanted j to* * and“what. .Wow did you ma nage to finish

just didn't answer me. That sort of thing was  

RWi This was after you left?

ROi No , no, this was during the time I was in camp* j&it after  

I left^of course, I went to San Franciscop^I worked for a while  

as a houseboy, youknow, and that sort of thing? dishw asher»$te A

was thrown into the stockade right after the
A* -

riot.
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RW* Yeah.

RO» I think my mother lent them to him. I didn't kn ow this  

at that time. But the thing is that

pHartJ £ * ^ Tule Lake or the surrounding town^ 1»  started to

nick up tfiaVJapanese music. They thought someone was  sending
F 'tivC«' to Japan
out secret message or something (laughs)/or somethi ng like that.

Anyway, the soldiers came around and trying to find where it

was coming from and finally located this one barrac k. And then

I gness they noticed some of the records with our na me on them.

RW* Gosh, and you were put in the stockade for that.

ROi So they came to our barrack and I was the only one there;

my parents were there, but I was the only one who could s peak

English, so I was the one who naturally responded to them.

They asked me about the records and I said I didn't know anything

about it. Because I didn't at that time. Then they started  to

search the whole barrack and then they said "come along. ” I

thought that they just wanted die to walk outside and ask

another question or something. Well, then they ordered me onto

the truck and took me to the'^army compound and for abo ut

whfifele night I was in one room. I thought they were going to

me. but they never did. They left one guard there

with a gun in his hand, and then they took me to the stockade .

I didn't know what it was; they just told me to go into the

gate. It was a very dark night; pitch-dark night and they

closed those gates behind me. So I really got kind of angry.

RWi Gee, how long did they keep you? Excuse me, go ahead.

RO1 They didn't even give me a chance to explain. But ther e

was nothing that I could do, so and there was only a t ent in

there, so I just sort of slept it out in the tent.

RWt I'm sorry I didn't get that.

ROt Well, this was a stockade;^a couple of tents with *-  

barbed wire fence around.

RW I Tjtere were just tents to sleep in. Must have been..

1, A sftall town called Tulelake was located a few miles fro m the  

Segregation Center*
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R O i ^ I  started hearing^voicein the dark, and then I f ound

*  *- a '-'M  W a  rn | v  *

fog the - rici-t,

RWi Gee, do you remmmber when this happened?

R O1 WHen?

RW * What month?

RO1 Yeah, this was early November.

RW1 Early November.

RO* And it was about a week after the riot. But anyway t here  

was about 6 people all bruised up? one person had his hea d all  

split u p 1 black eye. Anyway, there were very severely beaten  

up. There was one 15 or 16 year old kid, who was hanging  around  

the motor pool that night, he was dragged into, but he  was not  

beaten up. All the others were^taaPt s e v e r e l y ^ 4 ^ ^ > \

RW* How long did they keep you in the stockade?

RO* I was there about a month and I thought they wer e going to  

ask me some questions, but they never did.

RO* But the hard part was - well it was extremely cold.

RW* Oh yes.

RO* Tule Lake, because I still remember the blanket used t o 

get stiff from being frozen.

RW * Oh gosh*

RO* But the thing is, when they used to take us to the m esshalls,

the army messhalls - well, everytime they do that they ^load up  

their guns and surround us and w a r n ^ u s  that one fal se move  

and you could be dead, that sort of a thing. And even w hen we  

were eating, we were given left-over food from the soldi ers  

after they had their meal. They still keep their gun s  

pointed to our back? not very comfortable way of having a meal.  

RW* You eat with a gun at your back. Gee, did they even com e 

in and watch you in the latrine?
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HOi Oh yes. They came right in and pointed a gun at  

I stopped going to the toilets there, so we just had to dig

holes in the tent. At night time they would throw rocks at us.  /  

One time tear gas was thrown in. ^  />

RWi Se^t )Aow did you manage to cope with that?

ROi tlbll» we just had to do it...

RWt Well, it seems to me a real trauma, you know - so un fair.

ROi It was, but after about weeks, they started pickin g up  

so many other people for the compound that we were move d into

f a r

a larger, ̂ yottsikrww* barrack. That was much better. T here was a  

shower? the soldiers would stay outside of the barbed  wire fence,  

so we were left alone inside

RWi Now we are getting near the end. .*1 ii  end of my tape here..

I was going to ask you a little happier question. V ery different.

Looking back, what was the most helpful thing you lear ned about

your fellow human beings? would you say...

ROi Well, I think that I realized that not all people hated us.

I think there was some people who came fnam outside,  non-  

Japanese, you know Americans, some were teachers, so me were  

the administration that genuinely wanted to help us.

RWi Yes, there were some like that.

ROi I thought not everybody hated us and also I star ted to  

take in Christianity in camp, realize^ that God loves us  

us regardless of...

RWi I'm sorry, I didn't quite hear that..

ROi ...that God loves us ir^pite of who we are. That ^I think/  

help me a great deal. Prior to that I was pretty much a  

nonreligiuus person. Some of these hardships sort o f lead me
I' t* fcffclS

to flia î»giysbme kind of answer to life and meanin g.
___ _ 1 „  a  (JjtAja.

RWi a you saying that
v Sa* *\

you joined a church, yartm l p . r-you • a

ROi Yes* it was then when I became a Christian.

RWi Well, that's a nice note to end on. I did want to as k  

youi &jh > are there any other Japanese^Americans that

you know, who were in Tule Lake who might want, who might b e 

willing to talk to me?

ROi Well, I think so.

RWi Could you give me their names and if you have th eir
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telephone numbers - great, otherwise*.

ROi Well, let's see, I wonder if I have one j*H*t^now. .

Well, while I'm looking for this. First, I went through the  

renunciat ion process too, and that was a mainly a rea ction  

again, and I was very depressed during that period. In fact  

I thought I was coming down with a mental breakdown a lmost  

at that point.

RWi You said, you almost had a mental breakdown?

RO» Well, I was getting all these dizzy spells and rin ging in  

my head and all of that sort of thing; couldn't con centrate  

or remember anything. I was in pretty bad shape for  a while.  

RWi That was a terrible time in camp. I wasn't Japanese  

American, but I just couldn't help— it was a very difficu lt  

thing to talk to people--they were so anxious. It makes  me  

cry to think of it.

that.

ROi Oh, I see. He was in stockade too. He came from T opaz.

He was not the original.

RWi When I called him, he wasn't in, so I'll try to cal l him  

over the week end some time or in the evening. Is there anyone  

else?

ROi Well, let me see. Offhand I can't think of anyone. If you  

could give me your phone number or address#

ROt \fell, it was a veryAdiTficult, trying time. I'll giv ery^dif

you the name of ___

him already or not  

RWi No, I haverft.

• I don't know if you've talked with

I have that. Mr. &ave me


